RECEIVED

Oct 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2023-001733

In
The State of South Carolina
The Court of Appeals

Jian-yun (John) Dong, M.D., Ph.D., Appellant

v.

The Medical University of South Carolina, Respondent

Appeal From Charleston County Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean Toal, District Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-06683

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

John Dong, M.D., Ph.D.

Appellant, *pro se*

71 Delahow St.

Charleston, SC 29492

Email: johnny.dong@gmail.com

Phone: (843)-991-2332

TABLE OF CONTENT

TABLE OF CONTENT	ii.
TABLE OF STATUTES	iii.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESERVED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the district court err in granting Defendant's motion for summary judgment when Defendant failed its burden to prove the lack of genuine issues?
- II. Is violation of due process a reversible error, in which the district court restricted the Appellant's discovery to practically nonexistent and granted the summary judgment before Appellant could conduct a discovery?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal arises from the District Court's grant of Summary Judgment in favor of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC, Respondent) in a civil action filed by Jianyun (John) Dong, M.D., Ph.D. (Appellant). Dr. Dong claimed that MUSC breached a contract in bad faith, unlawfully seized his research assets, terminated his tenured professorship and employment benefits, and caused irreparable harm to his career and financial well-being.

The case was initially filed in 2014 and was reinstated in 2016 with Case Number 2016-CP-10-06683. (Rp 96) The discovery phase was problematic, fraught with long delays caused by the Respondent's stonewalling tactics, refusals of the Appellant's requests to produce documents and take depositions, as well as court's

Stays during the pandemic. At the request of MUSC, the District Court further limited discovery to a narrow set of email communications “directly to or from Dr. Dong and Dr. Lanier no earlier than 2010”. With such limitation, MUSC produced a stack of repeated the same chains of email communications that were not in precise order and without page numbers and dates, making them nearly impossible to read or verify their authenticity. At the same time, the District Court set a short and firm timeline for the “dispositive motion” phase and denied Dr. Dong’s motions to compel, to expand the scope of the discovery, and for a protection order due to his illness and surgeries, and motions for reconsideration. As a result, the District Court granted the Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment without allowing Dr. Dong to conduct a meaningful discovery to obtain relevant documents and take any witnesses’ deposition.

Additionally, the District Court did not allow the parties to conduct a mediation – a mandatory requirement set by the Supreme Court on November 12, 2015, and became effective on January 1, 2016.

Following the issuance of the Order granting summary judgment on July 17, 2023, Dr. Dong filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order on July 28. (Rp 467) The Respondent submitted a Response on August 16. (Rp 335) The District Court denied the Motion on September 22 as “untimely” (which is erroneous based on the filing dates) and meritless for “fail[ing] the burden of proof.” (Rp 4) On September

28, Dr. Dong filed a Motion for Recusal based on the appearance of bias, (Rp 108) which the district court denied on October 4. (Rp 2) Dr. Dong filed his Notice of Appeal on November 27, 2023. (Rp 102)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE BACKGROUND

Appellant John Dong, M.D, Ph.D., was a tenured full professor at the Medical University of South Carolina. Dr. Dong was recruited by MUSC from The University of California, San Francisco, in 1998. As part of his recruitment, Dr. Dong was requested to contribute to MUSC's efforts in establishing biotechnology industries under the mandate of the State of South Carolina to support high-paid jobs.

In about 2008, Dr. Dong found out that the Department Chairman, Dr. James Norris, had been covertly converting Dr. Dong's research projects, funds, and laboratory equipment for Dr. Norris' use while holding Dr. Dong's promotion and salary to coerce Dr. Dong not to raise the issues to the MUSC administration. However, Dr. Norris made false claims against Dr. Dong to the MUSC administration and various committees, claiming biosafety violations because Dr. Dong developed vaccines against lethal infectious agents for the National Institute of AIDS and Infectious Diseases and the Department of Defense. (Generally, see Dr. Dong's deposition, Rp 1210 -1248)

In or about 2009, with the help of Dr. Norris' friend, the Vice President of Research, Stephen Lanier, Dr. Norris blatantly took over all of Dr. Dong's biological research materials under the falsehood of "biosafety auditing." He eventually took all of Dr. Dong's research materials, technologies, equipment, and documentation by locking up his laboratories and office. This completely blocked Dr. Dong's ability to teach, research, and advance his academic career.

Dr. Dong complained to the Administration of MUSC to resolve the illegal takeover and violations of Dr. Dong's faculty rights. However, Dr. Lanier was the vice president of research and was in charge of academic affairs related to research and teaching. He was the very person who conspired with James Norris to take over Dr. Dong's research operations. After nearly a year of struggling with Lanier's stonewalling, Dr. Dong could not get back his research materials and was continuously blocked from his research and teaching operations. Time was critical in his research, competing for grant funding, and advancing his career. (See Dr. Dong's deposition, Rp 1215-1223)

B. THE AGREEMENT

Finally, in April 2010, Dr. Lanier proposed "a temperate solution" through Dr. Jerry G. Reves, the Dean of the Medical College and Vice President for Medical Affairs. Dr. Reves suggested implementing an eighteen-month "cooling period" during which Dr. Dong's research operations would be separated from Dr. Norris's.

This would allow Dr. Dong to continue his research off campus at a company established by MUSC's Foundation for Research and Development, while also maintaining his other academic activities at MUSC under the oversight of Dr. Yusuf Hannun, the Chairman of the Department of Biochemistry. Dr. Reves noted that after the "separation," MUSC would evaluate Dr. Dong's performance and allow him to return to campus, particularly if he secures more grants for MUSC. Alternatively, if Dr. Dong accepts a position at another university, he would resign from MUSC. These stipulations were outlined in the detailed terms of the Agreement. (Rp 1006-1010)

Two of the essential components of the Agreement are:

(1) Retention of his tenure professorship and full access to MUSC facilities on campus to conduct his academic activities as a tenured full professor. (Rp1007 - 1008)

(2) Returning all Dr. Dong's research materials and equipment, which are his properties, to Dr. Dong and transferring these assets to a laboratory at the company established by the Foundation for Research of MUSC; A partial list of Dr. Dong's assets was attached with the Agreement. (Rp 1008-1014) (MUSC violated both of these essential terms)

The Agreement was drafted by MUSC's general counsel, Mr. Joe Good. After several revisions, Dr. Dong was informed to sign the "final version of the agreement,"

with all the changes and terms that had been discussed, on May 3, 2010. Out of deep respect and trust for Dr. Reves, Dr. Dong did not scrutinize the “legal wording or style” utilized by Mr. Good, which was explained to him as “saying the same thing” in legal jargon. Dr. Dong was not represented by an attorney and signed the “Final Separation Agreement” as he was explained to and understood: “the final version of the temperate separation agreement” for the cooling period.¹

C. THE BREACH OF CONTRACT

As the vice president for research, Dr. Lanier was in charge of implementing the Agreement. However, during the eighteen months following the signing of the Agreement, Dr. Lanier did not transfer any of Dr. Dong’s research assets to the off-campus location but continuously blocked Dr. Dong’s academic activity at MUSC – the two essential conditions of the Agreement. (Rp 1006-1008) Dr. Lanier further supported Dr. James Norris and other faculties to take over Dr. Dong’s research

¹. This notion is important because, at the motion for summary judgment hearing, the defendant’s attorney claimed that the Agreement was actually a “final severance agreement” without any witness testimony or affidavit. The defendant’s attorney led the court to believe Dr. Dong agreed to resign from the University without material condition. First, this claim proved that MUSC was in bad faith and had no intention to honor the Agreement. Second, the claim is false because MUSC’s General Counsel clearly understood the differences in the legal definitions of “separation” and “severance.” Here, separation meant separating the two disputing faculty members by transferring Dr. Dong’s operation to an off-campus location in order for him to continue his research work on behalf of the University, with the terms detailed in the Agreement. At the end of the separation period, the resignation was conditioned upon Dr. Dong choosing to obtain a professorship at a different university. (Rp 1007)

projects and to continue the use of Dr. Dong's research funds, materials, and technologies to obtain research grants, publish research results, and enrich Dr. Norris, Dr. Lanier, and MUSC at the expense of devastating Dr. Dong's career and livelihood. (Rp 1215-1216; Dong deposition p 21-23)

In contrast, Dr. Lanier implemented numerous activities detrimental to Dr. Dong's career. These included but were not limited to:

- (1) Did not transfer or return Dr. Dong's research materials, essential documents, and equipment, which are essential for Dr. Dong to continue his research and advance his career;
- (2) Withheld Dr. Dong's multiple intellectual properties;
- (3) Continually blocked from any academic activities at MUSC;
- (4) Rejected a \$3,500,000 Dengue vaccine grant that Dr. Dong obtained from the National Institutes of Health on behalf of MUSC, causing Dr. Dong to lose his salary and funds for research provided in the grant.
- (5) Terminated his tenure at the University;
- (6) Terminated his salary and benefits, including his and his family's health benefits;
- (7) Terminated his retirement pensions;
- (8) Assisted and participated in a hostile takeover by one of the Company's investors who laid all the legal liability of the Company's using federal contract funds for a research facility on Dr. Dong and made him suffer all the legal consequences for the Company while the investors cashed out and abandoned the Company.

This breach of contract destroyed Dr. Dong's stellar career and entire financial well-being, and the damages were irreparable.

D. THE CASE HISTORY

Dr. Dong filed his Complaint on September 2, 2014, in the Court of Common Pleas in Charleston County (district court), alleging breach of contract, bad faith dealing, and illegally seizing Dr. Dong's research material, equipment, technologies, protocols, and records, abolishing Dr. Dong's tenure, and violated Dr. Dong's faculty rights and caused severe damage to Dr. Dong's career and livelihood. (Rp 1001-1018)

The Case was suspended when MUSC's general counsel, Mr. Joe Good, resigned, and Dr. Dong's attorney, Mr. Allan Homes (Dr. Dong's attorney), applied for the position. The district court reinstated the Case in 2016 at Dr. Dong's request after MUSC hired a new General Counsel.

E. THE COURT PROCEEDINGS

Subsequently, MUSC proceeded with discovery, including its First Interrogatory and Request for Production, in late 2018. Dr. Dong submitted a timely Response to MUSC's satisfaction (Rp 956) and filed his First Request for Production. (Rp 947) However, MUSC refused to produce any information or document requested in Dr. Dong's Request for Information by answering each question as "too broad and ambiguous." (Rp 932-946) Dr. Dong filed an Objection. (Rp 927-931) In March 2019, Dr. Dong filed the First Motion to Compel. (Rp 924-926) The Motion to Compel was subsequently heard by the Honorable D. Craig Brown. As a

result of the hearing, Judge Brown issued an Order on June 20, 2019, GRANTING the First Motion to Compel. (Rp 83-86)

On July 3, 2019, MUSC filed a Motion to Alter or Amend as to Judge Brown's June 20, 2019, Order. (Rp 916-922) Dr. Dong filed a Response in Opposition. (Rp 909-915) Thereafter, Judge Brown held a hearing where MUSC did not present a legal basis but claimed logistic or practical reasons for MUSC's inability to provide the requested information. However, MUSC claimed that it was ready to produce the information if the First Request for Information is limited to communications "directly to or from Dr. Dong and Dr. Lanier no earlier than 2010." At the hearing, MUSC also told Judge Brown that the information was "extensive, about 500 pages," and could be produced immediately. Judge Brown agreed and issued an Order on October 4, 2019, requesting MUSC to produce the limited information within ten days, and specifically ordered that the time and scope of the discovery "may be expanded at any time by either party." (Rp 84-85, a. - b.)

Under Judge Brown's order, MUSC provided a stack of printed emails, most of which were repeats of the same email chains without page numbers or dates and were not in clear order. This email dump did not conform with discovery rules that require the responding party "shall produce them as they are kept in the usual course business or shall organize and label them to correspond with the categories in the

request.” See SCRCP, Rule 34(b). Evaluating the content or authenticity of the printed materials was nearly impossible.

Per Judge Brown’s Order, Dr. Dong filed a Motion to Expand Discovery in time and scope on January 29, 2020 (Rp 904-908)) and served MUSC with the Second Request for Production. (Rp 892-903) Again, MUSC refused to produce any information by claiming each question was “too broad and ambiguous” or “the requests were the same as the First Request for Production,” which were never answered.

In February or March 2020, Judge Brown Stayed the forgoing Case because of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and the South Carolina Supreme Court issued an initial memorandum to close or alter the operations of certain circuit courts in South Carolina.

After the courts returned to normal operation, Dr. Dong filed the Second Motion to Expand the Time and Scope of Discovery on January 11, 2021. (Rp 877-878) The motion was met with no response. Finally, on January 20, 2021, Dr. Dong filed the Second Motion to Compel Production. (Rp881-884)

MUSC failed to respond to Dr Dong’s Motions for nine months, which legally left these Motions unopposed.

Dr. Dong filed a Motion for Granting Un-contested Motions on September 22, 2021.

Subsequently, MUSC filed a Motion for a Status Hearing, blaming its nonresponse to Dr. Dong's Motions to Expand Discovery on a "clerical error" of the court, which made the appearance that the Case remained "stayed."

On October 5, 2021, at the request of MUSC, the district court lifted the stay and allowed MUSC to file a Response to Dr. Dong's Motions to Expand Discovery and Second Motion to Compel. (Rp80). MUSC filed the Response to the Plaintiff's Motion to Compel and All Other Pending Motions. (Rp 819-876) Dr. Dong filed a Reply. (Rp 811-817)

On December 13, 2021, the district court commissioned Magistrate Judge Cothran to conduct a hearing on Dr. Dong's pending motions. At the hearing, Magistrate Cothran indicated that Dr. Dong's Motions to Expand Time is "granted" but suggested that Dr. Dong continue the discovery by taking depositions and "may request additional documents based on the information obtained through the deposition."

However, on January 10, 2022, Magistrate Cothran's clerk emailed MUSC's counsel, "Judge Cothran DENIED all Plaintiff's discovery motions and requested the counsel to submit a proposed order."

On January 20, 2022, MUSC submitted the "proposed order." The "order" denies Dr. Dong's Motion to Compel the Second Request for Production because "the requests are the very same requests contained in Plaintiff's First Request,"

although these requests were never answered in Defendant's First Response. The "order" further Denys Dr. Dong's request for expanding the scope of the discovery because "Dr. Dong did not obtain leave of the court to request the materials;" "How if Dr. Dong's Second Request for Production can be viewed as impliedly requesting the court's permission, the court denies Dr. Dong's request." (Rp 77). These "reasons" were untrue and meritless. Dr. Dong filed a Motion to Expand Discovery (Rp 904-908) and a Motion to Amend Discovery Restrictions and Schedule. (Rp 877-880). The initial limit was ordered specifically applying to the First Request for Production at MUSC's request in order for it to timely file some limited answers. The proposed order led the court to permanently limit Dr. Dong's discovery to a narrow set of emails (Dr. Dong received from Dr. Lanier in 2010 and allowed MUSC to dictate the timeline), which is a violation of the discovery rules.

On February 3, 2022, Dr. Dong filed his "Opposition to the proposed order." (Rp 805-810)

On February 7, 2022, Magistrate Cothran signed the MUSC-proposed order word by word over Dr. Dong's objections – permanently limited Dr. Dong's discovery to a hard copy of repeated email chains that were not in a particular order, no page numbers and cannot be verified. (Rp 76-77)

Dr. Dong filed an Interlocutor Appeal of Magistrate's Order to Restrict Discovery based on the district court's limited appellate authority over Magistrate's

decision or Motion to Reconsideration to the district court. (Rp 793-804). The district court denied the Interlocutory Appeal as it has no appellate authority and did not consider it as a Motion for Reconsideration. (Courts should consider pro se filings liberally with a lower standard than those filed by an attorney.)

Dr. Dong timely filed an interlocutory appeal based on that the unreasonable restriction on discovery violated due process, and the harm to Dr. Dong would be irreparable after a trial, pursuing Federal Civil Procedures §1292. (Rp 774)

This Court remitted the appeal to the district court because the judgment was not final. (Rp 54)

The Case was reassigned to the retired Justice, Honorable Jean Toal, as the district judge.

On October 4, 2022, Judge Toal held a status conference. (Rp 62) At the hearing, the Judge accepted a schedule proposed by the Respondent's attorney over Dr. Dong's objection and asked the attorney to submit a proposed order. On October 7, the Judge issued the Scheduling Order, which set a short timeline for the discovery before filing dispositive motions. (Rp 56-58) The Order did not allow any time for mediation or order a mediation even though "the case is subject to mediation." The Order set a firm time for taking Dr. Dong's deposition. (Rp 57) In contrast, there was not any firm requirement for MUSC to provide his witness; Dr. Dong could only take the deposition of MUSC's employees when they were willing and available –

MUSC's tactic built into the proposed scheduling order to obstruct Dr. Dong from conducting the deposition.

With the Order's short and strict timeline for Dr. Dong's discovery, the Respondent implemented its obstructive tactics, using a variety of trivial or logistic reasons to delay and hamper Dr. Dong's discovery. This ultimately resulted in Dr. Dong not being able to take any deposition before the Dispositive Motion phase. For example, the Respondent's attorney stopped his deposition of Dr. Dong when Dr. Dong asked if he could record the deposition with his iPhone for personal use while the deposition was recorded and transcribed by the court reporter.² Respondent's attorney disagreed but could not cite a specific rule preventing Dr. Dong from doing so. Even when Dr. Dong agreed not to use his iPhone, the Respondent's attorney insisted on postponing the deposition "to seek the court's intervention." It took weeks off the short time before the Judge responded. When it was Dr. Dong to take depositions of his witnesses, the Respondent's attorney delayed the process for weeks each time because he "needed to coordinate with MUSC's general counsel and the witnesses to find out when they are "willing and available." Finally, the attorney refused to produce any of the key witnesses by claiming MUSC lost contact with them after their retirement, even though they were all receiving pensions and

². The rules for deposition state the recording and transcription must be done by a certified court reporter for courtroom use. However, there is no language prohibiting the use of iPhone recordings by the person being deposed for his reference.

benefits from MUSC. Further, Respondent's attorneys filed Motion for Protective Orders for their consecutive vacations, and the court granted all these motions, taking extensive time out of the short time for Dr. Dong to conduct depositions. (Rp 70)

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