RECEIVED

Jun 14 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge
Charleston County

Case No. 2023-001733

Jian-Yun (John) Dong, M.D., Ph.D.Appellant,

v.

Medical University of South CarolinaRespondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Caroline W. Cleveland
Bob J. Conley
CLEVELAND & CONLEY, LLC
171 Church Street, Suite 310
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 577-9626 (o)
ccleveland@clevelandlaborlaw.com
bconley@clevelandlaborlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

A. Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend was Untimely and, Therefore, Appellant’s Notice of Appeal was Untimely.

1. Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Summary Judgment.

a. Appellant Submitted Motion Too Late.

The Circuit Court correctly concluded Appellant submitted his Motion for Amendment of Order Granting Defendant Summary Judgment too late. (Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Amendment of Order Granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, 9/22/23.) South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 52(b) allows a party “not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of entry of judgment” to request the court “amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly” Rule 52(b), SCRCF, further requires “[a] party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after filing the motion.”

Appellant and Respondent received the Circuit Court’s order on July 17, 2023, by email from the Court. (Exhibits A and B to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, .) Thereafter, Appellant filed the Motion on July 28, 2023. (Exhibit C to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, 8/16/23.) According to the certificate of service attached to the Motion, Appellant served the Motion on Respondent’s counsel by email and regular mail on July 27, 2023. (Exhibit C to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, 8/16/23.)

Respondent’s counsel received notice of the filing of the Motion on July 28, 2023. (Exhibit D to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, 8/16/23.) However, Respondent’s counsel did not receive the Motion by either email or regular mail as shown on the certificate of service

attached to the Motion. Consequently, Appellant failed to file or serve the Motion on or before July 27, 2023, resulting in the Motion being untimely because Appellant did not “make” – he neither filed nor served – the Motion within ten days of July 17, 2023. To the contrary, Appellant did not file, and no notification of the Motion was received by counsel for Respondent, until July 28, 2023 - eleven days after July 17, 2023.

Rule 52(b), SCRCPP, states “[u]pon motion of a party *made* not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of entry of judgment the Court may amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly . . .” (emphasis added.) It is indisputable Appellant received “written notice of entry of” the Order (i.e., a “judgment”) on July 17, 2023. (Exhibits A and B to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, 8/16/23.) Notably, on July 17, 2023, Appellant responded to the email from the Court containing the filed Order, thereby confirming his receipt of the Order on that day. (Exhibit B to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Amend, 8/16/23.) Nonetheless, Appellant did not file or serve the Motion within ten days of July 17, 2023.

The Court’s July 17, 2023, email to the parties attaching the Order constitutes “receipt of written notice of entry of judgment [the Order] . . .” Rule 52(b), SCRCPP. *See* Rule 77(d), SCRCPP (requiring service of the notice of the entry of a judgment or order by “first class mail” but stating such “mailing . . . shall not be necessary to parties who have already received notice”); Rule 59(e), SCRCPP (stating a motion to alter or amend judgment under Rule 59 must be served not later than ten days after “receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.”); Rosen, Rosen & Hagood v. Hiller, 307 S.C. 331, 334, 415 S.E.2d 117, 118 (Ct. App. 1992) (recognizing notice from the clerk under Rule 77, SCRCPP, is not required where a party otherwise has notice of the order or judgment). *See also, e.g.,* Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Properties South Carolina, LLC, 422

S.C. 211, 217, 810 S.E.2d 856, 859 (2018) (holding an email may constitute “written notice of entry of the order or judgment” under Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR.)

In summary, Appellant neither filed nor served the Motion on or before July 27, 2023. For the reasons discussed, the Circuit Court correctly concluded Appellant’s Motion for Amendment Order Granting Defendant Summary Judgment was untimely.

b. Appellant Failed to Raise or Address in Initial Brief.

Appellant does not address the Circuit Court’s finding that Appellant’s Motion for Amendment Order Granting Defendant Summary Judgment was untimely, or otherwise challenge the Circuit Court’s finding in Appellant’s Initial Brief. Consequently, Appellant abandoned challenging the finding and the Circuit Court’s ruling is the law of the case. *See Fields v. Melrose, Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”); *Bell v. Bennett*, 307 S.C. 286, 294-95, 414 S.E.2d 786, 791 (Ct. App. 1992) (failure to present argument is abandoned and, therefore, becomes an “unappealed ruling” and “the law of the case.”)

2. Appellant’s Notice of Appeal is Untimely.

The Circuit Court correctly found Appellant’s Motion for Amendment of Order Granting Defendant Summary Judgment was untimely. Therefore, Appellant’s Motion for Amendment of Order Granting Defendant Summary Judgment did not toll Appellant’s time for serving and filing the Notice of Appeal. (*See* Rule 203, SCACR, stating a “timely . . . motion to alter or amend the judgment” stays the time for appeal.). Consequently, as discussed above, Appellant’s thirty-days to serve and file the Notice of Appeal commenced on July 17, 2023, making August 16, 2023, Appellant’s deadline to file a notice of appeal. However, Appellant neither served nor filed the

Notice of Appeal until, November 3, 2023 – more than seventy days too late. (Notice of Appeal, November 3, 2023.) Consequently, Appellant’s appeal is barred.

B. Circuit Court’s Discovery Orders Do Not Constitute An Abuse of Discretion.

1. Appellant’s Requests for Production.

Appellant contends the Circuit Court abused its discretion in limiting the scope of his requests for production. However, a review of the Circuit Court’s orders addressing discovery shows a clear absence of any abuse of discretion, including any errors of law. (Orders of 6/20/19, 10/4/19, 2/7/22 and Scheduling Order 10/7/22.) For example, a review of the Circuit Court’s June 20, 2019, Order shows the Court exercised its discretion in *granting*, in part, Appellant’s Motion to Compel, and, in doing so, exercised the its discretion in placing limitations on the scope of discovery.

It is Appellant’s burden to show an abuse of discretion, and Appellant has failed to do so.

2. Depositions Scheduled and Cancelled by Appellant.

A review of the Scheduling Order (Scheduling Order, 10/7/22.) demonstrates Appellant’s general assertions about being denied the opportunity to take depositions is inaccurate. First, other than requiring Appellant to take depositions of Respondent’s current employees at Respondent’s counsel’s office, no other restrictions were imposed, other than the requirements, restrictions and limitations contained in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure that apply to all civil lawsuits.

Second, Appellant’s assertion Respondent’s counsel interfered with Appellant taking depositions is inaccurate. To the contrary, the record shows Appellant’s failure to take depositions was his failure alone. (Exhibits K – P to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Alter or Amend, 8/16/23.) For example, on January 5, 2023, in response to an email from counsel for Respondent regarding rescheduling depositions of Respondent’s employees, Appellant stated the following: “Please give me a a [sic] couple of days to look into my schedule in February. Thanks for the

follow up.” (Exhibit P to Respondent’s Response to Motion to Alter of Amend, 8/16/23.) However, there is no record of Appellant making subsequent requests to Respondent’s counsel to reschedule depositions.

Third, the record is clear that on October 4, 2022, the Circuit Court held a status conference and, thereafter, on October 7, 2022, issued the Scheduling Order. The Scheduling Order required depositions be completed no later than Tuesday, February 28, 2023. (Hearing Transcript, 10/4/22; Scheduling Order, 10/7/22.)

However, Appellant does not dispute that between October 7, 2022, and February 28, 2023, Appellant did not take a deposition. More notable as to Appellant’s contention of interference is that during the same time, Respondent’s counsel neither requested nor obtained protection from the Court. To the contrary, the record shows that after October 7, 2022, Respondent’s counsel requested and received court protection on a single occasion, for the period of March 27, 2023, through April 12, 2023; protection that did not begin until almost 30 days after the time to take depositions expired. (Orders of Protection, 3/21/23.) Consequently, based on the record, it is inaccurate that protection granted to Respondent’s counsel interfered with Appellant taking depositions. To the extent Appellant failed to take depositions, the record shows fault lies with Appellant alone and not with the Circuit Court’s orders, including the Scheduling Order.

3. Circuit Court’s Scheduling Order.

Appellant contends the Circuit Court’s Scheduling Order hindered and/or interfered with Appellant conducting discovery. However, the Scheduling Order shows this contention is wrong. (Scheduling Order, 10/7/22.) First, Appellant was provided with almost five months to take depositions, the only discovery allowed by the Scheduling Order. However, Appellant did not take a single deposition.

Second, as discussed above, other than requiring Appellant to take depositions of Respondent's current employees at Respondent's counsel's office, no other restrictions were imposed, other than those requirements, restrictions and limitations contained in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure that apply to all civil lawsuits. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, Appellant presents the Court with nothing done by the Circuit Court that constitutes an abuse of discretion.

C. Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment.

Appellant asserts a single cause of action for breach of contract. Appellant's Complaint contains no other causes of action, and Appellant's Complaint stands without amendment. Specifically, Appellant alleges Respondent breached the Agreement. (Complaint.)

Appellant, along with Dr. Reves, Respondent's then Vice President for Medical Affairs and College of Medicine Dean, signed the Agreement on May 3, 2010. Appellant filed his Complaint on September 2, 2014.

In this action for breach of contract, the burden is on Appellant to prove the contract [Agreement], its breach, and damages caused to him by such breach. Maro v. Lewis, 389 S.C. 216, 222, 697 S.E.2d 684, 688 (Ct. App. 2010). Additionally, the law imposes an obligation on Appellant to file and serve his Complaint alleging breach of contract within the applicable statutes of limitation.

As the Circuit Court concluded, Appellant does not present sufficient material evidence to show Respondent breached the Agreement, to show damages accrued as to Appellant regarding alleged breaches, or to show Appellant filed and served the Complaint within the applicable three-year statute of limitations. For the reasons expressed by the Circuit Court, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court granting Respondent summary judgment.

1. Statute of Limitations Bars Appellant's Claim.

a. Appellant Failed to Address in Initial Brief.

Like Appellant's failure, discussed above, to challenge, oppose or address the Circuit Court's finding that his Motion to Alter or Amend was untimely, Appellant fails to address in his Initial Brief the Circuit Court's finding that his breach of contract claim is barred by the statute of limitations. Indeed, in Appellant's Initial Brief, Appellant makes no argument or mentions the Court's conclusion that his breach of contract claim is barred the applicable three-year statute of limitations. Consequently, the Circuit Court's finding regarding the application of the statute of limitations is the law of the case. *See Fields* at 106, 439 S.E.2d at 285; *Bell* at 294-95, 414 S.E.2d at 791.

b. Appellant's Claim is Otherwise Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Even if Appellant challenged the Circuit Court's Order in respect to the Circuit Court concluding Appellant's breach of contract claim is barred by the statute of limitations, Appellant's claim is barred. The statute of limitations for actions pursuant to contract is three years. *Poly-Med, Inc. v. Novus Scientific PTE. LTD*, 437 S.C. 343, 347, 878 S.E.2d 896, 898 (2022) (*citing* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) (2005)). Consequently, the statute of limitations applicable to Appellant's allegations regarding the Agreement is three years. The Circuit Court correctly applied the three-year statute of limitations to Appellant's Complaint, and correctly concluded any breaches of the Agreement Appellant alleges occurred prior to September 2, 2011, are time barred. Appellant presents no material evidence any alleged breach occurred after September 1, 2011.

Second, Appellant presents no material evidence any alleged breach *first* occurred after September 1, 2011, or occurred more than three years after Appellant knew or should have known (i.e., discovered) a cause of action for breach of contract existed. *See Id.* at 350, 878 S.E.2d at 900

(“The limitations period begins to run when a party knows or should know, through the exercise of due diligence, that a cause of action might exist.”) (*quoting Anonymous Taxpayer v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 377 S.C. 425, 439, 661 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2008)). In *Poly-Med*, the South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed “South Carolina does not recognize the continuing breach theory in applying the statute of limitations to breach of contract claims.” *Id.* at 355, 878 S.E.2d at 901.

Appellant, at best, could only pursue his breach of contract action for the following alleged breaches by Respondent: 1) breaches *first* occurring after September 1, 2011 – three years prior to filing the Complaint on September 2, 2014; and/or 2) breaches Appellant did not know of and should not have known of through the exercise of due diligence prior to September 2, 2011 – three years prior to Appellant filing the Complaint. However, for the reasons discussed by the Circuit Court, Appellant does not present material evidence to overcome application of the three-year statute of limitations.

i. Appellant Does Not Present Material Evidence Respondent First Breached the Agreement After September 1, 2011.

According to Appellant, Respondent breached the Agreement soon after entering into the Agreement. (Respondent’s Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, Exhibit 2, P. 139, L. 4 – P. 140, L. 21; P. 144, L. 2 – P. 145, L. 7.) For example, Appellant claims Respondent failed to meet the terms of the Agreement addressed in Section C.2.i below. (Respondent’s Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, Exhibit 2, P. 94, L. 4 – P. 95, L. 18.) However, the Agreement required Respondent meet the terms of the Agreement in that respect within forty-five days of entering into the Agreement, being on or before June 17, 2010. (Exhibit 1 to Complaint.)

By way of further example, the Agreement required Respondent meet the terms of the Agreement addressed in Sections C.2.r and C.2.t below. (Exhibit 1 to Complaint.) However, the

Agreement required Respondent meet the terms of the Agreement in those respects within thirty days of the effective date of the Agreement – no later than July 17, 2010. (Exhibit 1 to Complaint.) Additionally, Appellant testified “of course” Respondent breached the Agreement prior to March 25, 2011. (Respondent’s Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, Exhibit 2, P. 139, L. 4 – P. 140. L. 21; P. 144, L. 2 – P. 145, L. 7.)

In summary, taking Appellant’s allegations and testimony as true, the Circuit Court correctly concluded Appellant knew or should have known as early as June 17, 2010, that Respondent breached the Agreement. Therefore, the three-year statute of limitations accrued and began to run as to Appellant’s breach of contract claim as early as June 17, 2010, but no later than July 17, 2010.

Moreover, Appellant testified he believed Respondent breached the Agreement prior to March 25, 2011. Regardless of what date the statute of limitations accrued as to Appellant’s claim Respondent breached the Agreement, the Circuit Court correctly determined that Appellant waiting until September 2, 2014, to file his Complaint results in Appellant’s claim falling outside the statute of limitations. Consequently, Appellant’s breach of contract claim is time barred.

ii. Appellant Either Knew of or Should Not Have Known of Alleged Breaches of the Agreement Through the Exercise of Due Diligence Prior to September 2, 2011.

See Section i above.

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